IN THE CORONERS COURT
OF VICTORIA

AT MELBOURNE
Court Reference: COR 2015 5382

FINDING INTO DEATH WITH INQUEST

Form 37 Rule 60(1)
Section 67 of the Coroners Act 2008

Inquest into the Death of LOUIS OLIVER TATE

Delivered On: 26 February 2018

Delivered At: THE CORONERS COURT OF VICTORIA
65 KAVANAGH STREET, SOUTHBANK

Hearing Dates: 12 December 2017 — 15 December 2017, & 21 December
2017

Findings of: MR PHILLIP BYRNE, CORONER

Representation: Mr Chris Winneke, QC, of counsel, instructed by Maurice

Blackburn for Ms Gabrielle Catan and Mr Simon Tate,
parents of Louis.

Dr Paul Halley, of counsel, instructed by Minter Ellison,
for Peninsula Health.

Leading Senior Constable King Taylor of the Police
Coronial Support Unit, assisting.

The Finding does not purport to refer to all aspects of the evidence obtained in the course of the Investigation. The material relied upon included statements and
documents tendered in evidence together with the Transcript of proceedings and submissions of Counsel. The absence of reference to any particular aspect of the

evidence, either obtained through a witness or tendered in evidence does not infer that it has not been considered.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

BACKGROUND
BROAD CIRCUMSTANCES
REPORT TO THE CORONER
THE INQUEST
RELEVANT LAW
o Fundamental role of the Coroner
o Causation
o Standard of proof
APPROACH TO ASSESSMENT OF PERFORMANCE
ISSUES FOR DETERMINATION
THE CONCLAVE - “HOT TUB”
FOOD HANDLING IN THE PAEDIATRIC WARD
CENTRAL ISSUES OF CONTENTION
o The cause of Louis’ anaphylaxis
o Medical management — “phase two”
POST-INTUBATION MANAGEMENT

WAS THE ANAPHYLACTIC EPISODE DUE TO BREAKFAST A CAUSAL
FACTOR IN LOUIS’ DEATH?

FINDING/CONCLUSION
COMMENTS
DISTRIBUTION OF FINDING

ANNEXURE A — FLOW CHART FOR SERVING ALLERGEN FREE
MEALS (CHILDREN’S WARD)

ANNEXURE B — SUBMISSIONS FILED BY ALLERGY & ANAPHYLAXIS
AUSTRALIA ON 12 DECEMBER 2017

ANNEXURE C — SUPPLEMENTARY CORRESPONDENCE FROM MS
MARIA SAID, CEO, ALLERGY & ANAPHYLAXIS AUSTRALIA, DATED
15 JANUARY 2018



I, PHILLIP BYRNE, Coroner, having investigated the death of Louis Oliver Tate

AND having held an inquest in relation to this death on 23 October 2015

at The Coroners Court of Victoria

find that the identity of the deceased was Louis Oliver Tate

born on 23 April 2002

and the death occurred on 23 October 2015

at Frankston Hospital, 2 Hastings Road, Frankston, VIC, 3199 in the following circumstances:

BACKGROUND

Louis Oliver Tate, 13 years of age at the time of his death, resided with his parents Ms
Gabrielle Catan and Mr Simon Tate and his younger brother at 31 Marguerita Avenue, Mount
Martha.

Louis had a past medical history of asthma and previously established allergies to cow’s milk,
raw egg, peanuts and tree nuts. In spite of these conditions, which were well managed and
controlled by Louis and his parents, Louis lived a normal active life. Therein lies the cruel

irony of the events under investigation in this coronial investigation.

BROAD CIRCUMSTANCES

On the evening of 21 October 2015, Louis was experiencing an exacerbation of his asthma for
which Ventolin and Prednisolone was administered. He attended school the following day,
using Ventolin as required. However, later in the day and into the evening of 22 October
2015, as Louis’ asthma was not being relieved by Ventolin, Ms Catan took Louis to the
Emergency Department (ED) at Frankston Hospital.

In the ED at 10:20pm, Louis was reviewed by Paediatric Resident, Dr James Phillips. At the
review, Dr Phillips concluded Louis was suffering from “moderate asthma with mildly
increased work of breathing and wheezing and required oxygen” (Paragraph 7 Dr Phillip
statement — Exhibit G). Louis was admitted overnight to the paediatric ward for observation

and oxygen therapy.

Shortly prior to lam on 23 October 2015 in the paediatric ward. Ms Catan advised Registered

Nurse Brenda-Lee Hanisch, who was to care for Louis overnight, of Louis’ food allergies. She
further advised that he had his EpiPen in his bag and for breakfast could be given Weetbix,
soy milk and fruit; but was not to be given cow’s milk due to this established food allergy.
This information was formally documented by Nurse Hanisch. Ms Catan left the ward at

1:45am.



10.

11.

Nurse Hanisch, in her formal statement (Exhibit Q paragraph 8) stated she regularly checked
Louis overnight. She stated Louis was administered Ventolin at 1:50am, 3:30am and 5am.
Oxygen therapy was ceased at Sam. At approximately 7am Nurse Hanisch spoke with Louis

who indicated he felt better. Dr Cara Baillie, Paediatric Registrar, reviewed Louis at 7am. He

.was reported as looking well and Dr Baillie concluded Louis could be discharged if he did not

require Salbutamol for 3 hours. Louis’ asthma had for all intents and purposes resolved.

Ms Irene Fisher, Personal Care Assistant spoke with Louis and asked what he would like for
breakfast. Louis requested Weetbix with soy milk. Nurse Hanisch stated she advised Ms
Fisher that Louis could be served Weetbix and soy milk. Ms Fisher prepared Louis’ breakfast
and shortly prior to 7:15am presented it to Louis in his room. It is noteworthy that there was
nothing on the whiteboard in the paediatric ward kitchen as to Louis’ food allergies. Ms
Hanisch had apparently not complied with the requirement to list patients’ allergies on the

board. Furthermore there was nothing recorded at the bedside as to Louis’ food allergies.

At about 7:19am, Louis attended the nurses’ station and advised Registered Nurse Helen
Hutchins that virtually immediately upon tasting his Weetbix and milk, he experienced a
“tingling” on his lips. Nurse Hutchins walked with Louis back to his room and asked the ward
clerk to page the paediatric resident Dr Phillips. She also asked Nurse Hanisch, who had

noticed the ward bell and returned to the room, to perform a full set of observations.

Dr Phillips immediately attended and reviewed Louis. In his formal statement (Exhibit G) Dr
Phillips said Louis looked “distressed, had trouble breathing and was wheezing on
auscultation.” Louis also advised Dr Phillips that he was experiencing “mild tingling in his
throat.” Dr Phillips asked that Louis be given 12 puffs of Salbutamol and asked Nurse
Hutchins to draw up 0.4mgs of adrenaline. Dr Phillips made a differential diagnosis of asthma
and/or anaphylactic reaction. At 7:36am Dr Phillips called the Paediatric Registrar Dr Baillie
who attended shortly thereafter.

Dr Baillie in her statement, (Exhibit F) said that upon reviewing Louis, who was sitting in a
tripod position, she noted he was “working hard to breathe.” She further stated her
“immediate and primary impression was that Louis was suffering an anaphylaxis reaction”,

with a differential diagnosis of asthma.

Dr Baillie said that at 7:40am, the first dose of adrenaline that Dr Phillips had ordered be
drawn up, was administered intra-muscularly. At approximately 7:45am, Dr Baillie noted
Louis’ condition suddenly deteriorated with increased difficulty breathing and his “eyes
rolling back.” Dr Baillie requested a MET call and ordered a further dose of adrenaline. The
second dose of adrenaline was administered intra-muscularly between 7:55am and 8am. Dr
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12.

13.

14.

Baillie maintains Louis’ condition initially improved after the second administration and she

decided to move Louis to the nearby treatment room. Louis walked with assistance of nursing
staff to the treatment room where shortly after the MET team attended, together with
paediatric consultants Drs Pillay and Blair (the latter having come on duty at 8am). At the
request of Critical Care Liaison Nurse Dr Chris Bowden, the Clinical Director Anaesthetics at
the hospital, also attended the treatment room. He noted Louis was “acutely short of breath,
tachypneic and that his breathing was laboured.” Dr Bowden remained for a short while as the
paediatric team reviewed Louis, but did not personally examine Louis. Dr Bowden stated that
he concluded at that time that Louis’ vital signs did “not indicate a need for airway

intervention.” (Exhibit T paragraph 6)

At approximately 8:10am, Louis’ condition deteriorated and Dr Baillie ordered another dose
of adrenaline. At 8:14am a third dose of adrenaline was administered, again intra-muscularly.
A decision had previously been made that if Louis required a third dose of adrenaline, the
Paediatric Infant Perinatal Emergency Retrieval Team (PIPER) would be requested to attend
to transfer Louis to a tertiary hospital. At 8:16am Dr Baillie asked that PIPER be summoned.

After a short period, Louis’ condition improved with his oxygen saturations at 99%. However,
at approximately 8:20am, Louis’ oxygen saturations dropped to 87%. Dr Baillie, noting
Louis’ condition had again deteriorated, made a second MET call. At 8:42am, a fourth dose of
intra-muscular adrenaline was administered and a decision was made in conjunction with the
anaesthetic team (Drs Bowden and Hales) to transfer Louis to theatre for intubation awaiting

the arrival of the PIPER team.

In his formal statement, Anaesthetist Dr Hales (Exhibit U, paragraph 12), described the
intubation of Louis at 9am as “straightforward,” with Louis remaining “cardiovascularly
stable throughout.” Shortly after, an adrenaline infusion was commenced. Dr Hales described
how after a period of relative stability his management of Louis became increasingly difficult
as Louis’ end-tidal CO2 (ETCO2) increased from 70-80mmHgs shortly after intubation,
suggestive of severe bronchospasm, decreasing to approximately 58mmHgs, until rising
alarmingly to over 100mmHgs, followed by a rapid deterioration of Louis’ condition with
ETCO2 rising to 108mmHgs. Dr Hales sought further anaesthetic support resulting in the
return of Dr Bowden (and another anaesthetist Dr Ding). It was concluded that Louis was
suffering from malignant hyperthermia, a very rare condition. The malignant hyperthermia

protocol was commenced; Louis was administered Dantrolene via femoral venous catheter.



15. At approximately 10:49am, Louis suffered a cardiac arrest from which, in spite of lengthy,

full resuscitation measures, he could not be revived. CPR was abandoned as futile and Louis

was declared deceased.

REPORT TO THE CORONER

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

Louis’ untimely death was reported to the Coroner. Having regard to the circumstances,
having conferred with the forensic pathologist and being aware Louis’ parents consented to

autopsy and wanted to know the cause of death, I directed an autopsy and ancillary tests.

In early March 2016, I received from Forensic Pathologist Dr Yeliena Baber a 17 page
Autopsy report, together with toxicology reports relating to the analysis of post mortem

samples and a soy milk sample provided by the hospital.
In her report, Dr Baber advised that in her view, Louis’ death was due to:
I (a) Malignant hyperthermia complicating the management of acute asthma.

Contributing factors

History of food allergy.

In broad terms, that cause of death, opined by Dr Baber based on the material available to her
at the time, was asthma related, not directly due to an anaphylactic reaction to breakfast. That

is where from the outset, Louis’ parents were in furious disagreement.

Shortly after Dr Baber’s autopsy and toxicological reports became available, a family meeting
with Ms Catan and Mr Tate took place. Family meetings are undertaken under the auspices of
the Victorian Institute of Forensic Medicine, not the coroner, but in any event [ am supportive
of this process, particularly where the cause of death formulated by a forensic pathologist who
performed the autopsy is queried/challenged. I was subsequently advised that Louis’ parents

(and perhaps others) took issue with the cause of death provided by Dr Baber in her report.

At quite an early stage, I concluded these contentions would in all likelihood réquire use of

the forensic judicial process.

Over a period of time, I received from Mr Tate and Ms Catan a number of
communications/submissions in which strident criticisms of medical mismanagement were
articulated. On 11 January 2016, a letter from Mr Tate was received together with a formal
request for inquest. The family’s concerns at that time are demonstrated in the following

excerpts from Mr Tate’s letter. He wrote;

“In our opinion Louis would still be alive if it were not for two key areas of failings at

hospital in respect to allergy management
4



22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

o Jn hospital food service
o  Anaphylaxis identification and management”

and,

“During a meeting with medical staff at Frankston Hospital and in Louis’ medical file
it is clearly indicated that Louis Tate had anaphylaxis as a result of breakfast whilst in

hospital.”

Of course, I was aware from the outset that that contention went to the fundamental core

findings I would ultimately be required to make.

At times, my investigation has been somewhat tortuous; progress was slow for various
reasons, particularly identifying medical practitioners with the appropriate experience and

expertise to provide independent expert opinions on the medical management of Louis.
I sought and received independent expert opinions from:

e Professor John Ziegler, Paediatric- Immunologist, Department of Immunology of
Infectious Diseases, Sydney Children’s Hospital

e Dr Andrew Numa, Intensive Care Respiratory Physician, Director, Intensive

Care Unit, Sydney Children’s Hospital.
There reports were made available to solicitors for both Louis’ parents and Peninsula Health.

By March 2017, I concluded I had accumulated sufficient material to list the matter for a
Mention/Directions Hearing at which I hoped to determine the future course of the matter and

the scope and parameters of the proposed hearing. I finally felt progress was being made.

On 31 March 2017, a Mention/Directions Hearing proceeded. At the hearing, Mr C J
Winneke, QC, briefed by Maurice Blackburn, appeared on behalf of Ms Catan and Mr Tate,
Dr Paul Halley, briefed by Minter Ellison, appeared for Peninsula Health and Ms Rebecca
Johnston-Ryan of this Court appeared to assist.

At that hearing, Mr Winneke made an application that I exercise my discretion to require
Peninsula Health to provide to the Court (and ultimately to his instructors) the formal Root

Cause Analysis that we were aware had been undertaken. In fact, I had earlier asked

Peninsula Health, through their solicitor, to provide a copy of, or at least details of, the

internal review. Not surprisingly my request was denied on the basis of claimed public
interest immunity. In the event, at the Mention Hearing, Dr Halley confirmed that his client
maintained the objection of the basis of “public policy,” a protection apparently based upon

the same rationale.



27.1 indicated that I thought a second Mention/Direction Hearing would be required prior to
listing the matter for formal inquest. I wanted to settle a list of witnesses, seek to determine
precisely how many experts would be providing reports and giving evidence, and hear
submissions in relation to Mr Winnekes’ request that I direct Peninsula Health to provide

their formal Root Cause Analysis.

28. A second, more fruitful, Mention/Directions Hearing took place on 11 August 2017; again Mr
Winneke and Dr Halley appeared. I heard argument from both counsel on the issue of
production of the Root Cause Analysis, with Dr Halley, on behalf of his client, maintaining

the objection to it being produced.

29. I made an extempore ruling requiring Peninsula Health to provide to the court a copy of the
Root Cause Analysis and advised that I would carefully examine the document upon receipt
and then determine whether I would release it to Maurice Blackbum. I did however give a
strong indication that the likelihood was that it would be so released. Subsequently, upon

receipt of the Root Cause Analysis a copy was made available to Maurice Blackburn.

30. At this second hearing, a tentative list of witnesses was discussed to enable a reasoned
assessment to be made as to the period that would be required to hear vive voce evidence
from some dozen plus witnesses. I also indicated that my preferred option in relation to
hearing from expert witnesses, of whom it was thought there would be eight, was to have a

“hot tub,” (I prefer the term “conclave™), after which we would hear concurrent evidence.

THE INQUEST

31. The matter was listed for inquest from 12 to 15 December 2017. Over the first three days,
evidence was received from Ms Catan, the doctors, nurses and the personal care assistant
directly involved in the management/care of Louis. I had hoped to hear from witnesses in
chronological order of their involvement, but due to issues of availability of witnesses, that

could not be achieved. In the event, I heard vive voce evidence, in order, from:
e Ms Gabrielle Catan, Louis’ mother.
e Ms Irene Fisher, Personal Care Assistant.
e Ms Helen Hutchins, Registered Nurse.
e Dr Cara Baillie, Paediatric Registrar.
e Dr James Phillips, Paediatric Resident.

e Dr Simon Blair, Consultant Paediatrician.



e Ms Heather Gilbertson, Dietician and Manager of Nutrition and Food/Service
Royal Children’s Hospital.

e Dr John Kerr, Chief Medical Officer, Austin Health (at the time Executive

Director of Medical Services Frankston Hospital).
e Ms Brenda Lee Hanisch, Registered Nurse.
¢ Dr Melanie Pillay, Consultant Paediatrician.
e Dr Christopher Bowden, Consultant Anaesthetist.

e Dr Paul Hales, Consultant Anaesthetist.

32. On day four of the inquest, the experts entered the conclave. Forensic Pathologist Dr Yeliena
Baber was not available. In that circumstance, the week prior to the hearing I had approached
Professor Noel Woodford, Director of the Victorian Institute of Forensic Medicine (who
coincidentally was involved in the family meeting early in 2016), to stand in Dr Baber’s
stead. Before the doctors entered the conclave, I advised counsel that I had asked Professor
Woodford if he could undertake the role of facilitator with a view to conveying to the court
the deliberations/conclusions of the conclave. Of the experts who had provided reports; those
engaged by Maurice Blackburn and those engaged by Minter Ellison, Dr Ross became
unavailable at the eleventh hour and Drs Reeves and Jacobe participated by video link and

some other similar technology. Personally participating in the conclave were:
e Professor Woodford.
e Professor Ziegler.
e Dr Numa.

e Dr Daley.

e Dr Costello (who although in the conclave was excused prior to hearing

concurrent evidence).

33. Prior to the conclave, I had formulated a number of specific issues/questions I wanted the

experts to consider. Because of their significance I include them in this finding:

e The broad principal question I would like addressed is — was the medical/nursing
management of Louis appropriate (and timely) and was it in accordance with

published guidelines?

¢ Does anyone take issue with the actual cause of death as advised by Forensic

Pathologist Baber (malignant hyperthermia)?
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e What do you consider were the precise reasons for Louis’ sudden deterioration?:
* Anaphylactic reaction to the breakfast served
= Exacerbation of asthma
= A combination of both asthma and anaphylaxis
*  Some other less obvious cause

Should nursing/medical staff have been aware Louis had an EpiPen? If so, should

it have been utilised, and if so, at what point in time?

Was the decision to intubate Louis reasonable and timely?

e Had Louis not been intubated is it more likely than not he would have survived?

Were the anaesthetic agents used to intubate appropriate?

If the severe deterioration in Louis’ condition was due to a reaction to the

anaesthetic administered could, or should, that deterioration have been foreseen?

Are the guidelines relating to individuals with both asthma and allergy consistent

throughout the country and are they adequate?

34. 1 also invited Maurice Blackburn and Minter Ellison to indicate specific questions.they would
like the experts to consider in the conclave. Both firms lodged questions they would like
considered; Maurice Blackburn some 28 and Minter Ellison some 32. I “pulled” some of the
questions posed by the parties basically because I concluded they were adequately canvassed

in the 9 questions I had formulated. I also considered they went to issues I would need to

determine after considering the evidence.

RELEVANT LAW

35. Before turning to make findings in relation to the critical issues in this matter, I propose to
refer to aspects of the law to which I am required to have regard. Firstly, S 67 of the Coroners

Act 2008 provides the core findings I am, if possible, required to make; they are:
a) The identity of the deceased.
b) The cause of death.
¢) The circumstances in which death occurred.

There is no controversy in relation to the first. However, the cause of Louis’ death and the

circumstances of this death are the primary issues in respect of which there is contention.
8



FUNDAMENTAL ROLE OF THE CORONER

36.

37.

38.

From my perspective, the judgment of Callaway JA in Keown v Khan (1999) (VR 69) was a

landmark judgement. Adopting a statement in the Broderick Committee (UK) Report' His

Honour said:

“In future the function of an inquest should be simply to seek out and record as many
of the facts concerning the death as public interest required, without deducing from

those facts any determination or blame”.*

and added;:

“In many cases, perhaps the majority, the facts themselves will demonstrate quite
clearly whether anyone bears any responsibility for the death; there is a difference
between a form of proceeding which affords to others the opportunily to judge an

issue and one which appears to judge the issue itself.””

In R v South London Coroner: ex-parte Thompson [1982] 126 SJ 625 Lord Lane commented:

“It should not be forgotten that an inquest is a fact finding exercise and not a method
of apportioning blame”.
I had made this important point, hopefully clearly, in the presence of Ms Catan and Mr Tate at
the earlier hearings.
Several New Zealand cases assist in adequately explaining the apparent conundrum between

concluding an entity has caused or contributed to a death, but not laying, or apportioning

blame. See Louw v McLean (1998 High Court of New Zealand unreported 12 January 1988)

and Coroners Court v Susan Newton and Fairfax New Zealand [2006] NZAR 312. The notion

_ is that in finding causation, or contribution to a death the implicit attribution of blame is

39.

unavoidable.

Again in Keown v Khan Justice Callaway made a ruling which assists in determining whether
an act or omission can reasonably be considered a casual, or contributihg factor, as distinct
from a “background circumstance,” that is a non-causal factor. In considering this dichotomy

His Honour said one should consider whether an act complained of departed from a norm or

standard. or an omission was in breach of a recognized duty.

! Report of the Committee on Death Certification and Coroners (1971) (UK) (“The Brodrick Report” Cmnd. 4810)
2(1999) 1 VR 69, 75
3(1999) 1 VR 59, 75



CAUSATION

40. Causation is a fundamental consideration in forming concluded views about events
surrounding a death under investigation. It has been the subject of considerable judicial

attention. In Fitzgerald v Penn (1954) 91 CLR 268 & 278 the issue of cause was considered

by the High Court and described as all ultimately a matter of common sense; adding to the

concept “is not susceptible of reduction to a satisfactory formula.”*

In March v Stramare (1991) 171 CLR 506 the Chief Justice of the High Court of Australia

stated.

“What was the cause of an occurrence is a question of fact which must be determined

by applying common sense to the facts of each particular case.””

The issue has been considered in the coronial context in the Supreme Court of Victoria. In a

robust judgement Hedigan J in Chief Commissioner of Police v Hallenstein (1996) 2 VR 1

adopted the “common sense” approach stating:

“In March v Stramare (1991) 171 CLR 506, the High Court of Australia considered

the fundamentals of causation in the negligence context. The statements of principle in

relation to causation are, in my view, applicable to the concept of contribution within

the Act, is concerned with the causes of death and who contributed to it”.° (“The Act”

in that case was the Coroners Court Act 1985)

For an act or omission to be a cause, or one of several causes, of a death the connection
between the act and/or the omission and death must be logical, proximate, and readily

understandable; not illogical, strained or artificial. The circumstances of Louis’ death raise
challenges.
STANDARD OF PROOF

41. The issue of the standard of proof that I must bring to bear requires consideration.

Fundamentally, the time honoured “Briginshaw test” (Briginshaw v Briginshaw (1938) 60
CLR 336) is appropriate. The Supreme Court of Victoria has discussed the “Briginshaw test”
in several matters involving coroners, canvasing the standard of proof to be applied in-:

considering whether an act or omission by someone acting in a professional capacity, such as

a doctor or nurse, is a causal or contributing factor in a death (see Anderson v Blashki (1993)

2VR89 and Health and Community Services v Gurvich (1995) 2 VR 69). In essence those

* Fitzgerald v Penn (1954) 91 CLR 268 & 278
> March v Stramare (1991) 171 CLR 506, 17
6 Chief Commissioner of Police v Hallenstein (1996) 2 VR 1, 14
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42.

authorities dictate that findings of causation/contribution should not be made on “inexact

proofs, indefinite testimony or indirect inferences”, but only on cogent and persuasive proofs

— in the final analysis a comfortable degree of satisfaction must be reached to conclude an act

or omission was causal. or contributing factor in a death.

I make one further comment on the relevant law. While it may be obiter, in a short judgement

in Keown v Khan, Justice Batt, in a timely reminder to coroners, made the following

observation:

“Finally, I desire to make some comments with regard to the record of investigation.
There is no doubt that coroners may discuss the evidence and explain their findings.
But I have the impression that any rate in more contentious inquests coroner’s reports

have of late tended to be prolix. At least as a general rule, that is unnecessary.”’

Rather than including in a finding great tracts of transcripts of evidence, I merely seek to

include, succinctly, the evidence which supports the conclusions at which I have arrived.

APPROACH TO ASSESSEMENT OF PERFORMANCE

43.

44,

45.

Before seecking to assess the adequacy of medical management, there are several further

matters upon which I propose to make comment, because they go to the important issues I am

required to consider. The first is the issue of hindsight/retrospection. I am required to consider
the adequacy/efficacy of the medical management of Louis without the not inconsiderable
benefit of hindsight. I believe I have to assess the performance of the doctors, those involved
in Louis’s assessment and treatment with the knowledge they had, or reasonably should have

had at the time, without knowledge of subsequent events. In my view, this presents quite a

challenge; I add that this often also represents a challenge for an expert providing an opinion

on medical management.

The second point I make in the present. context is the test to be applied in assessing treatment

is, was it reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances. not whether it was optimal. It is

one thing to consider performance in the artificial context of the courtroom many months
after events, and another putting myself in the shoes of those involved at the time, faced with
an emergency.

Although in a different context, the assessment of the performance of a police officer, the

rationale behind the decision in' Woodley v Boyvd [2001] NSWCA 35 can in my view be

transported to the present case. In that matter Heydon J said:

7(1999) 1 VR 69, 79
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“... in evaluating the police conduct, the matter must be judged by reference to the

pressure of the event and the agony of the moment, not by reference to hindsight.”

It is clear that what confronted Drs Phillips and Baillie was an emergency. Similarly, again in

the context of the conduct of a police officer, in assessing performance in this case I am

required to take into account that decisions had to be made by Drs Phillips and Baillie under

the pressures of the emergency confron';ing them (see Walker v Hamm [2008] VSC-596).

46. I believe I am also required to have regard to the levels of experience of Dr Phillips the

Paediatric Resident, and Dr Baillie the Paediatric Registrar.

ISSUES FOR DETERMINATION

47. In broad terms, the principal areas upon which I need to make formal findings are:

Did Louis suffer an anaphylactic reaction to the breakfast served at
approximately 7:15am by Ms Irene Fisher? In that context, I need to examine
the adequacy of what I will call the “food preparation and presentation regime”

in place in the paediatric ward at Frankston Hospital at the time of Louis death.

If Louis did suffer an anaphylactic episode upon tasting his breakfast, was a

diagnosis, formal or differential, made in a timely manner?

Were the steps taken to treat Louis, once an anaphylactic reaction was
suspected, reasonable and appropriate? In this context, I will consider whether
medical management was in compliance with the relevant guideline in place at

the time.

Again in that context, were the medical resources (personnel) brought to bear

timely and appropriate in the circumstances?
Was the decision to intubate Louis appropriate and timely?

Were the anaesthetic agents utilised to facilitate intubation in accordance with

standard practice?

Was the realisation Louis suffered malignant hyperthermia timely and was the

subsequent treatment provided to the rare condition appropriate?

I indicated at the second Mention/Directions Hearing that the resolution of most of those

issues would likely involve a “battle of the.experts.”
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48. In relation to the food regime. on behalf of Frankston Hospital, Dr Halley presented a

document containing what I will call “concessions;” concessions which, on the material to

hand, really had to be conceded. The concessions made are as follows;

1.

There was a lack of a written policy regarding food handling pertinent to
patients with allergies on the paediatric ward as at the time of Louis’

admission.

Any policy that was in place was ad hoc in that it relied (at least in part) on a
PSA orally communicating with a nurse as to what food a patient could be

given.

Any policy that was in place did not ensure that a nurse checked the food

prepared for an allergic patient prior to it being given to the patient.

Insofar as the policy required the documentation of the name and food

allergies of Louis on the kitchen white board, this did not occur.

The above led to an inadequate food handling policy which was a systemic

failure (rather than a failure of any individual).

It is not conceded that Louis was given food or drink to which he was known
to be allergic. However, given the temporal connection between the delivery of
breakfast and the onset of Louis’ throat tingling, it is possible that an allergic
reaction was triggered by the breakfast.

The inadequate food handling policy allowed for potential error to be

introduced in the process of preparing and providing Louis with his breakfast.

There were, it was conceded, significant systemic failures in the food handling

practices/policies in place at the time. As noted above it was not conceded that the breakfast

provided to Louis contained anything that it was known Louis was allergic to.

THE CONCLAVE - “HOT TUB”

49. In matters such as this, where an assessment of medical management is to be made, the Court

has of necessity to rely upon the opinions of individual experts in their field. Therefore the

evidence which will determine the principal findings is that of the experts; two independent

experts commissioned by the Court, three engaged on behalf of Louis’ parents and two

engaged by Peninsula Health.
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50. Earlier in this finding, I listed the nine questions I wanted the conclave to address. I believed
the responses by the panel of experts to those specific questions should provide answers to
most of the principal issues I was required to resolve. In relation to some of the issues, there

was not unanimity, but in many there was a consensus of opinion.

51.In seekiné to articulate the conclusions I have reached, I have done my best to encapsulate
what conclusions the panel came to and indicate where there was some contention, or non-
consensus by a member or members of the panel, what the difference of opinion was and the

basis, or bases for that divergence of opinion.
52. The evidence of the experts (except Drs Ross and Costello) was provided in three stages:

e Their written expert opinions, all of which are in evidence.

e The position each took in relations to the issues discussed in the conclave, as
advised by Professor Woodford, whether it be agreement with, or divergence

from, the position of others.

e Their evidence in response to questions put by counsel, or me, in concurrent

evidence.

In relation to stages two and three, Dr Ross was not involved, due to being unavailable on 15
December, and Dr Costello although involved in the conclave, was excused from further

attendance due to an important engagement prior to concurrent evidence being given.

FOOD HANDLING IN THE PAEDIATRIC WARD

53. Leaving aside for the moment the question of precisely what in the breakfast provided by Ms
Fisher was the cause of the anaphylactic episode Louis experienced, it was conceded that the
food handling procedures/processes in place at Frankston Hospital/training were deficient, the

deficiencies being systemic. Mr Winneke supported by Dr Halley submitted it would not in

the circumstances, be appropriate for me to make adverse findings against either Ms Fisher,
or Ms Hanisch. As Dr Halley stated they, (Ms Fisher and Nurse Hanisch) “...only worked
within the system they did not design the system and the system allowed for errors.” While
from one perspective that may appear a little magnanimous, ultimately I am comfortable
adopting that approach. It is sufficient, in my view, to accept that the food handling regiine in
place at the time was clearly deficient. As Dr Gilbertson, Manager, Nutrition and Food
Services Royal Children’s Hospital in her statement (Exhibit “N”) said, aspects of it “posed a

potential risk of error. ”® The most important aspect of the independent review undertaken by

8 Statement of Dr Gilberton. P151 of Coronial Brief
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Dr Gilbertson was that it formed the basis of the implementation of new Food Services

Allersv Management Policies Procedures and Guidelines at Peninsula Health.

54. Dr John Kerr, Executive Director of Medical Services, Peninsula Health gave evidence as to
Peninsula Health’s response to Louis’ death. In his statement (Statement Exhibit “P”’) Dr Kerr
conveniently listed the findings and recommendation of what I will call the “Gilbertson

Review.” For completeness, and due to their importance, I include the relevant excerpt from

his statement:

“9.  In addition to the external audit performed by Frankston City Council, the
Royal Children’s Hospital (RCH) performed an independent review of
Peninsula Health's paediatric food services allergy management policies,
procedures, guidelines and practices, at Peninsula Health's request. The
site was inspected on 23 December 2015. The RCH made the following

recommendations.

a. cease decanting of milk on the ward and provide single serve,
unopened tetrapacks to patients instead. -This recommendation was

implemented on 18 January 2016 as follows:

(i)  patients identified as having an allergy to dairy are provided

with soy milk in single serve tetrapacks, and

(i)  an additional check is completed by the PSA by crosschecking
the UR number on the tray ticket and the red alert patient 1D
band;

b. provide a label of ingredients for cereals which have been decanted.
This recommendation was implemented on 14 January 2016.
Nutritional parels are now clearly placed on all cereals on the ward

Jor easy reference by PSAs, nursing staff or parents;

C. produce an allergen matrix for the three week menu cycle that
clearly indicates whether each menu item contains any of the eight
main food allergens. - This recommendation was implemented on
18 January 2016. An allergen matrix for the three week paediatric
menu cycle clearly indicating any of the eight main food allergens
for each menu item is displayed in the paediatric ward. Allergens
are identified on the CBORD menu management system for all

other acute and subacute wards;
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produce written documentation of the meal serving procedure in
the ward pantry, for full ward diet, allergy patients and other
special diet codes, ideally as a flow chart. - This
recommendation was implemented on 29 January 2016. The
paediatric allergen management process flowchart is displayed
on the wall next to the allergen matrix. The flowcharts were
rolled out to other wards such as the Frankston Hospital
Emergency Department and Dialysis Unit by 26 February
2016;

any patient with a food allergy be managed by the menu monitor
and entered into the CBORD menu management system so all food
items can be checked and tracked. All three meals should be
produced in the main kitchen, checked by the supervisor and then
delivered on a red identifying tray directly to the patient rather
than served from the ward pantry. Extra vigilance was
recommended for patients with unstable asthma as this may
contribute to a heightened vrisk of anaphylaxis. - This

recommendation was implemented on 1 February 2016 as follows:

(i)  patients admitted to the paediatric unit with food allergies

are managed by the food monitor for all meal selection;

(ii)  the meals are distributed on a separate trolley on red trays

with the meal ticket with the patient’s UR number and name;

(iii) the meal is cross checked by the PSA, by confirming the
patient's UR number and name with their red patient ID

band; and

(iv)training on the process has been undertaken with ward

and menu monitor staff;

food presented to a patient requiring a special or allergen-free
diet should be checked and signed off by the PSA and then co-
signed by the nurse before being given to the patient. - This

recommendation was implemented on 1 February 2016 as follows:

(i)  the PSA and nurse are responsible for delivering the meal to

the patient;
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(ii)  the nurse will sign off on the tray ticket to confirm that the

correct meal has been provided,

(iii)  the signed tray ticket is then filed with the patient's notes;

and -

(iv)  training on this process has been undertaken with the ward
staff;

snacks should be provided as a snackbox prepared in the main
kitchen and labelled with the patient's name, UR, ward and room
number or appropriate portion pack biscuits such as rice crackers
can be available on the ward stored in a separate airtight
container.- This recommendation was implemented on 1 February

2016 as follows:

(i) snacks or midmeals for patients with food allergies will only
be prepared and issued to the patient by the main kitchen;

(ii)  a list of suitable snack items recommend by the paediatric
team has been entered into the CBORD menu management

system _for compliance;

(iii) small red trays have been purchased for the paediatric
ward to be used in the provision of snacks as an additional

alert; and

(iv) any alternative products in the paediatric ward will be
stored separately and labelled for patients with

intolerances;

signage that clearly indicates 'special diet' be placed on the
patient's bedside. - This recommendation was implemented on 19

February 2016 as follows:
(i) red ID bands are used to identify patients with allergies;
(i)  meals are crosschecked by nurses and PSAs; and

(iii) over-bed signage has been implemented in the paediatric
ward and is the responsibility of clinical staff who enter the
diet into the CBORD menu management system.

Documentation and guidelines have been updated
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appropriately and training has been undertaken by ward

staff, PSAs, menu monitors and nutrition staff;

written documentation of training frequency, content and
attendance be produced. Specific training on allergen
management, cross contamination and special diet codes should
be given by the clinical dieticians on a three monthly basis to all
PSA and food service staff in addition to their usual food safety
training modules. - This recommendation was implemented on 29

January 2016 as follows:

(i)  all staff now require log-on credentials so that they can

access online training,

(ii) FSAs and PSAs currently receive fully accredited training

every three years;

(iii) it is a condition of their employment that all food handlers

have a current Food Handling Certificate;

(iv)  food safety refresher training is pursuant to a mandatory,

annual training module; and

(v)  support services, speech pathology and nutrition deliver
annual training to PSAs, to ensure the key aspects of
allergen management, cross contamination and special diet
codes are adequately covered. Training attendance is

recorded for compliance;

a separate bain-marie or section for 'special products’ be
arranged to minimise the risk of cross-contamination or error.
Alternatively, gluten free products should be placed in a single
portion container that can be added to the meal separately. - This
recommendation was implemented on 15 January 2016. All
allergen-free meal components sit separately to the main meal

choices at the point of service; and

documentation and sign off for special diet meals or allergen free
meals that state the recipe was followed verbatim and no product
substitution was made during production. Alternatively, allergen-
free meals can be purchased from an external supplier and
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reheated before serving. - This recommendation was implemented
on 29 January 2016. A selection of meals which are free of all of
the eight main food allergens have been purchased from Kingston
Central Production Kitchen which is part of Monash Health. The
meal items are entered in the CBORD menu management system

)

Jfor compliance and served to patients with allergies.’

55. Dr Kerr also provided a copy of a Flow Chart for Management of Allergen Free Meals

(Annexure A) in both the general and paediatric wards that flowed from the review, which is

annexed to this finding.

56. Dr Kerr, in the final paragraph of his formal statement, provided a broad summary of the
hospital’s responses to the tragic circumstances surrounding Louis’ death; he wrote (at
paragraph 10) under the heading, “Additional changes implemented as a result of the

reviews:”

“As well as responding to the recommendations outlined above arising from both the
clinical and food handling reviews, Peninsula Health has continued to raise the
awareness of anaphylaxis with all clinicians and highlighted the rising incidence of
serious allergies in the Australian community with the Department of Health.
Education of staff has been undertaken to increase the awareness of appropriate
response/s to anaphylaxis. We are currently reviewing and updating out hospital

guidelines to ensure that they are contemporary and accord with best practice.”

I am satisfied Peninsula Health’s new policies, procedures and guidelines in this regard are
thorough and appropriate. The recognition of the deficiencies in their systems, and the
implementation of new practices, policies and guidelines, relieves me of the obligation to

make formal recommendations on the issue.
CENTRAL ISSUES OF CONTENTION

57.1 list below the matters upon which I am comfortably satisfied, and upon which there was

virtual consensus of opinion by the experts, and then I will return to the central contentious

issues:

a) ofthe cause of Louis’ anaphylactic reaction

b) and the adequacy of medical management at “phase two”
I am satisfied:

e At 7am Louis’ asthma exacerbation had all but resolved.
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e Virtually immediately after the first mouthful of breakfast Louis experienced

an allergic reaction.

e Dr Phillips and subsequently Dr Baillie attended upon Louis in a timely matter
and within a reasonable timeframe Drs Phillips and Baillie concluded Louis’

condition was likely an anaphylactic reaction to something in the breakfast

provided.

e The decision to summon PIPER to transfer Louis to a tertiary hospital for

treatment was appropriate and made in a timely manner.
¢ The decision to intubate Louis was appropriate.

¢ The medical management of Louis by Anaesthetist Dr Hales was rcasonable
and apprbpriate and the anaesthetic agents utilised to facilitate intubation were
also appropriate;

e Louis suffered a reaction to an anaesthetic agent which resulted in malignant
hyperthermia, an extremely rare condition, which could not reasonably have
been foreseen.

e Subsequently Louis suffered a cardiac arrest from which, in spite of full

resuscitation measures, he could not be revived.

THE CAUSE OF LOUIS’ ANAPHYLAXIS

58. While I am comfortably satisfied Louis suffered an anaphylactic reaction to the breakfast
provided, seeking to determine precisely what the allergen in the food was has been elusive.
One of the principal reasons for my frustration is due to the fact I have been unable to
satisfactorily determine whether the carton of milk delivered to VIFM for analysis was the
cartoﬁ from which Ms Fisher took the milk she delivered to Louis in a glass accompanying

the Weetbix; or it was a carton of soy milk from the stock in the refrigerator in the paediatric

kitchen.

59. It is to be recalled that earlier in the proceeding when Dr Halley made concessions as to food
management, he specifically did not concede that the breakfast provided to Louis contained

anything that it was known Louis was allergic to. (See paragraph 45 of Finding).

60. Initially, I, and I suspect Forensic Pathologist Baber, presumed it was the carton, but now, in

spite of further eleventh hour enquiries, I am not sure it was.

61. Mr Winneke in his final submission, not surprisingly, was highly critical of the hospital in not
“isolating the food that Louis had been given for the purposes of testing” (Transcript 21.12.17
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62.

63.

64.

65.

on page 7). Even without knowledge that Louis would ultimately die, the fact that very
shortly after commencing breakfast he suffered symptoms indicative of an allergic reaction,
which attending doctors concluded quite quickly was very likely an anaphylactic episode,
dictated that the foodstuff that may have contained the allergen should have been retrieved
and secured, if for no other reason than for the purposes of internal investigation. I am
somewhat frustrated by the fact that ultimately, although it is a possibility, I am unable to
definitively determine whether Ms Fisher mistakenly provided cow’s milk to Louis, rather

than soy milk.

When one considers that Louis was only provided Weetbix and milk (whatever type it was),
the potential source of the allergen is very much limited/restricted. Even more so when,
shortly prior to the commencement of the inquest Professor Woodford facilitated further
analysis which excluded the prospect that the allergic reaction Louis experienced was due to
soy — the analysis undertaken at the Royal Children’s Hospital shortly prior to
commencement of the inquest demonstrated SIgE was negative to soy protein. That analysis

laid to rest the prospect that Louis may have suffered a “new,” previously unknown reaction

to something in soy milk.

The submissions by counsel on the issue are interesting; Mr Winneke submitting that there is
an “overwhelming inference” open to be drawn, that Louis was inadvertently given cow’s
milk, or the milk provided, if indeed it was soy, was in some way contaminated. On the other
hand, Dr Halley maintained there was no good, primary evidence before me which
demonstrated Louis was given cow’s milk. Dr Halley conceded however that there was a

“temporal connection” between the provision of breakfast and the onset of tingling in the

mouth. He added:

“The admission is that that’s a possible allergic reaction, but Your Honour has heard

the totality of evidence.” (Transcript submission of page 58)
In answer to the third of the questions I formulated for consideration by the experts in

conclave, in concurrent evidence 1 was advised there was consensus that Louis’ deterioration

was due to an “anaphylactic reaction in the setting of acute exacerbation of chronic asthma.”

Ultimately, due to an irresistible inference, I am comfortably satisfied Louis anaphylaxis was

indeed due to an undetermined allergen contained in the breakfast provided. Whether it was

mistakenly cow’s milk in the glass, or some contamination due to dairy product, regrettably I

am unable to determine.
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MEDICAL MANAGEMENT - “PHASE TWO”

66. This is the area of more contention, and the area where the opinions of the experts are of
necessity critical. Mr Winneke describing the medical management during the period prior to
intubation as “ponderous,” submitted that had the medical management been more
“aggressive” the escalation of management, through to intubation, may have been avoided.
‘He submitted:

“There is evidence that there were delays in the administration of the first line of

treatment, being adrenaline and that the treatment was not sufficiently aggressive.”

The basic thrust of the argument put on behalf of Louis’ parents in relation to the medical

management during what we have called “phase two” was, as I understood it, threefold:

e The Australian Society of Clinical Immunology and Allergy (ASCIA)
guidelines in relation to the timing of administration of adrenaline were not

followed.

e An adrenaline infusion (rather than intramuscular injections) should have been

undertaken earlier.

e More senior medical staff (rather than paediatric resident and registrar) should
have had more active, hands on involvement in Louis’ treatment once there
was a real prospect his deterioration was due to anaphylaxis, rather than an

exacerbation of asthma or a mere food allergy.

67. 1 think it fair to say there is little contention surrounding the chronology of the actual actions,
steps, treatments provided by Dr James Phillips the Paediatric Resident and Dr Cara Baillie,
the Paediatric Registrar. However, whether their medical management of Louis was
reasonable and appropriate is where the evidence of the experts is critical. I tumn to that

evidence.

68. The Court had, with considerable difficulty, commissioned independent expert opinions
which were provided by Professor John Ziegler and Dr Andrew Numa, both of Sydney
Children’s Hospital.

69. In broad terms, in their initial reports, both the experts commissioned by Maurice Blackburn
for the family, and those commissioned by Minter Ellison for Peninsula Health, supported the
position taken by the respective parties (that is not in any way a criticism, merely a fact). That

is, Drs Costello, Reeves and Daley opined that medical management was deficient in one way

9 Submission Transcript page 10
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70.

71.

72.

73.

74.

75.

or another; whereas Drs Jacobe and Ross opined the medical management afforded Louis was

generally reasonable and appropriate.

I stress that purely because Dr Numa and Professor Ziegler were engaged by the Court does
not necessarily mean their opinions will prevail. I am required to look at the whole body of

expert evidence and seek to determine where the weight of evidence lies.

I have vacillated as to how, in this finding, I go about expressing the conclusions I have

reached and the evidence I have relied upon to come to those conclusions.

Earlier in this finding (at para 33), I referred to the questions both I, and the parties, put to
experts in conclave. Although I believed most of the specific questions put on behalf of the
parties were encapsulated to a significant degree in the first eight of my questions, I thought it
prudent for the experts to provide opinions in relation to all questions put. That was done and
after the conclave, when the group of experts, (other than Drs Ross and Costello) gave
concurrent evidence, my assistant, Mr King Taylor put each of the questions to Professor
Woodford who relayed the experts’ answers to the questions. Where there was contention, a
divergence of opinion, the expert who held a contrary view to the others was given an
opportunity to articulate his position. Furthermore Mr Winneke was able to explore with the

witnesses their responses.

My dilemma lies in that that evidence is contained in some 27 pages of transcript. What |
have sought to do, is carefully examine the transcript of the concurrent evidence and Mr
Winneke’s examination of various participants, and as best I can, address what I see as the
critical issues by summarizing the responses to the questions posed. Of course the entire
transcript of the proceeding (including final submissions some 610 pages) will form part of

the public record of the proceedings.

I must say that to my surprise, there was a greater degree of consensus of opinion in the

conclave than I had anticipated in relation to most of the issues raised.

The medical management of Louis in the period from when the anaphylactic event was
recognised, through to intubation, (“phase two™) was one of the two primary foci of my
investigation and subsequent inquest hearing. It was the central issue addressed by the experts
engaged by the Court, the family and the health service. The first “principal question” I had
formulated for consideration in the conclave was — “was medical/nursing management of
Louis appropriate and timely and in accordance with published guidelines?” As referred to
earlier in this finding, the criteria to be applied when assessing the medical management of

Louis anaphylaxis is, was it reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances.
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76. Professor Woodford, in relaying the conclusions reached relating to my first, primary
question indicated that although in broad terms, the opinion of the panel was that the medical
management provided in phase two: was reasonable, “notwithstanding things could’ve been
done better”, suggested that where there was some divergence of opinion, each expert could

be invited to expand upon their view.

77. So as to ensure I do not misinterpret what was said by the various experts, and rather than me
seeking to paraphrase their responses, I propose to include the relevant excerpts from the

transcript.
78. Dr Reeves explained his position when I invited him to comment on the issue; he said:

“Yes, Your Honour. I do, do accept that hindsight is a marvellous thing and we are
talking about some conflicting aspects in the notes. My, my reading of the record was
that the time frame between the initial reporting of symptom and the subsequent
administration was perhaps up to 25 minutes and so we would all agree that in
hindsight, if anaphylaxis is recognised, that that is at the upper limit of normal range
and, and perhaps that certainly falls within what my colleague says could’ve been
handled better. And so I think -1 think the feeling amongst some of our colleagues was
that perhaps a more aggressive, more timely approach could have made a difference
although we couldn’t have confidently stated how much of a difference that would

have made. That’s very hard to quantify. ’'°

Dr Daly having earlier indicated he considered the intervals between the administration of the

doses of adrenaline did not strictly conform with the guidelines, added:

“Yes, Your Honour. I agree in principle with what Dr Reeves was saying. The thing is
the doctors in attendance were, as Dr Jacobe saying, empowered within the protocol
to exercise their judgment. But in hindsight, and I understand that’s a very powerful, I
felt strongly that a more aggressive approach was warranted but I know the ultimate
outcome, which of course invalidates that comment. But the practitioners who were
exercising the judgment were those with the minimal medical qualification in setting
of having worked all night as well, and I wonder whether the judgement might have

been different with senior staff who were fresh. !

79. On the other hand, Dr Numa, one of the experts engaged by the Court, expressed his opinion

in the following terms:

10 Sybmission transcript page 490 — 491

' Submission transcript page 492
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“Thank you, Your Honour. Look I believe that the time course of interventions from
first recognition through to getting to the operating room for intubation was entirely
reasonable. This is not a simple diagnosis to make, particularly in a child who’s been
admitted to hospital with an entirely different label and I actually think the junior
medical staff did quite well to rapidly realise this was not an acute deterioration of
asthma but in fact represented another illness altogether, and they responded I think
appropriately. The guidelihes allow for more frequent administration of adrenaline
but the administration of any resuscitation drug is always titrated against the patient
response. The patient should arrive in the operating theatre adequately oxygenated
with a good cardiac output and were it not for the malignant hyperthermia, I'm
absolutely certain that the outcome would have been positive. And in that setting, the
role of the junior staff which is to stabilize the patient, get senior help, and get the
patient to a safe place which in this case was or should have been the operating

theatre in a decent condition, all of that was fulfilled. ’?
80. Professor Ziegler, also engaged by the Court, indicated he concurred with Dr Numa, adding:

“Your Honour, I don’t really have anything to add to that. There’s a variation in

clinical response in any situation and I think it was in all within those constraints.”’’

Dr Jacobe, engaged by Peninsula Health addressing the particular issue of the timelines of the
administration of intramuscular adrenaline, opined medical management was adequate,

elaborating;:

“Thank you, Your Honour. I believe that basically the treatment given by the nursing
and medical staff were — was adequate and conformed with the guidelines insofar as
the guidelines gives the treating medical staff some latitude to provide — or give
Jurther doses of adrenaline as required and according to the response of the doses
given. I think the timeliness of the first does is — it’s unclear in the medical literature
about when too late is ~ or when adrenaline given is too late, usually within 30
minutes is currently what’s in the medical literature. Obviously this is an area that

can’t be tested by empiric means.

Dr Jacobe, responding to my query as to whether the timing of the administration of

adrenaline was appropriate said:

12 Transcript page 493
13 Transcript page 493
4 Transcript page 491

13 Transcript page 492
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“I think there was said to be improvement after each dose of adrenaline and then
deterioration following that and I think the doctors used their judgement in terms of
the administration of the adrenaline and I think that’s reasonable in the

circumstances.”’

81. Mr Winneke broached with Dr Numa the subject of claimed failure to follow appropriate
guidelines. I consider Dr Numa’s responses in support of his opinion that the performance of

Drs Phillips and Baillie was reasonable warrants inclusion. I include several excerpts from his

evidence; he said:

“Look, guidelines are increasingly prevalent in medicine and definitely serve a role
but in a starting point, they're not the definitive treatment...and the treatment of any
patient is always based on the individual patient’s circumstances. You cannot write a

guideline that’s entirely appropriate for all comers under all circumstances.”

He further added:

“The practitioners were attentive to Louis’ condition and were observing and at
intervals during that quite long period, more than an hour intermittently gave
adrenaline injections when they felt it was clinicdlly indicated. That’s the sense I get
from reading the notes. To say that guidelines says “thou shalt have five minute
intervals” it’s not really appropriate in the individual case. It’s a broad based
document, you know, it’s an ASCIA national guideline to apply it verbatim to

individual is not necessarily appropriate.” '

He concluded:

“Well, I would argue — as I said before, practitioners, we’re at the bedside observing
Louis’ responses. And for a long period of time after that, I mean the point I made
eai.'éier was that he arrived in the operating theatres with — adequately oxygenated,
with a cardiac output. After more than an hour of management at the bedside by the
Junior medical staff, to me that suggests the management was within the bounds of

acceptable because they — he arrives in the anesthesia bay in- a reasonable

condition. !’

82. One of the questions I posed for consideration by the experts in conclave was — are the
guidelines relating to individuals with both asthma and allergy consistent throughout the

country and are they adequate? Professor Woodford advised that Dr Jacobe, who practices in

16 Transcript page 522 - 524

17 Transcript page 528
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83.

84.

85.

86.

87.

NSW, considered the guidelines were reasonably consistent at least as far as Sydney is
concerned. Professor Woodford indicated that Dr Reeves, who also practices in NSW, added
that in his view the ASCIA guidelines suggest where asthma is a component of anaphylaxis,
anaphylaxis should be treated first. The balance of experts concluded that the current
guidelines are adequate. Later in this finding I propose to comment upon some of the issues

surrounding the adequacy of present guidelines.

In relation to the other aspect of Mr Winnekes’ contention that treatment should, in the
circumstances, have been more aggressive in that an adrenaline infusion should have been
undertaken earlier, Dr Daley, as I understood him, accepted that his position on the issue may
have been influenced by the fact that he, as a vastly experienced senior cardiothoracic
anaesthetist in a renowned tertiary hospital, undertaking that procedure is in his “comfort

zone.”

In concurrent evidence, after the conclave, although there was some divergence of opinions as
to the efficacy of medical management of “phase two,” (the anaphylactic episode at
approximately 7:20am), overall the conclave came to a consensus that in broad terms it was
reasonable, albeit the experts engaged by Maurice Blackburn for the family maintained it was
at the “upper end” of reasonable. I queried what was meant by the “upper end of reasonable,”
and was advised that those who held that view meant that treatment was just within what

could be considered reasonable.

In reaching a conclusive view on this issue I have assiduously examined the relevant body of
evidence. I think it fair to say Dr Reeves and Daly retreated to some degree from their initial
opinions; by that, I mean although maintaining their views that aspects of medical
management were what I will call sub-optimal, accepted that overall medical management
was at the “upper end” of reasonable. Professor Ziegler, Dr Numa and Dr Jacobe all opined

medical management was reasonable and appropriate.

Mr Winneke’s client’s contention was that had medical management been “more aggressive,”
including more “hands on” involvement by consultants Drs Pillay, Blair and Bowden, and had
there been earlier administration of an adrenaline infusion, it would have significantly
increased Louis chances of avoiding intubation. Mr Winneke conceded that was not the
unanimous view of the conclave, adding that [ was not bound by what the conclave

concluded.

The consensus of opinion was that it was not necessary that any of the consultants actually
undertake a “hands on” examination of Louis during the period he was being treated by Drs

Phillips and Baillie.
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88. The conclave considered this very question. When I examine the transcript of the concurrent
evidence it seems there is some equivocation on this question. At page 48 of the transcript,
the panel, addressing question 18 of the Maurice Blackburn questions concluded the issue
was difficult, but it was thought that with more aggressive and timely treatment it was
possible intubation could have been avoided, but on balance the conclusion was that it would

not have altered the need for intubation.
89. Whereas, in response to question 15 posed by Minter Ellison, Professor Woodford, advised:

“The panel feel that it wasn’t possible to say on a balance. But with the benefit of

hindsight, more aggressive treatment might have made a difference to the outcome.” '8

I do not have the luxury of considering the matter with the benefit of hindsight.
90. In reaching a concluded view on this significant issue I note Mr Winneke’s final submission;

“It’s accepted that Your Honour, on the evidence, the medical evidence could not find
on the balance of probabilities that, had the aggressive treatment been provided, he
would have avoided the requirement for intubation, but the evidence was that his

prospects of avoiding it would have been significantly improved.”’

I conclude that even if Drs Blair Pillay or Bowden had a more direct involvement, the course
of treatment would not have been materially different. Once the decision to transfer was
made, and I am satisfied that decision was entirely appropriate, intubation necessarily

followed.

91. Interestingly, during concurrent evidence Mr Winneke put questions to several of the experts
seeking I believe to recover ground seemingly lost when, in spite of some reservations, they
modified their opinions, accepting that aspects of medical management upon which they had
been critical in their written reports was reasonable — the test of adequacy of performance -

albeit at the “upper end” of reasonable.

92. On the other hand, Dr Halley, when he had the opportunity to examine the experts had no
questions whatsoever. 1 concluded he considered his position secure and not requiring
bolstering. I suggest the position taken by Dr Halley demonstrated where the weight of
evidence lay.

93. While several participants in the conclave categorised the medical management of Louis

during “phase two” as at the “upper end of reasonable,” and that was the opinion relayed by

Professor Woodford, I am satisfied the performance of Drs Phillip and Baillie was better than

18 Transcript page 486
1% Transcript of submissions page 10
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94.

that. In the final analysis, removing hindsight, I do not put the “upper end” caveat on their

medical management of Louis which I concluded was well within the bounds of reasonable.

When [ apply what I believe to be the appropriate standard of proof, I am comfortably
satisfied there is no reasonable basis for an adverse finding about the overall medical
management of Louis by medical staff who were involved in phase two of his treatment on

the morning of 23 October 2015.

POST INTUBATION MANAGEMENT

95.

96.

97.

98.

99.

At the second Mention/Direction hearing Mr Winneke indicated, as I understood him, that the
medical management of Louis post intubation was not in issue.- In indicating the scope and
parameters for the formal inquest, I indicated I would not therefore be pursuing issues related

to that period of medical management.

However, early in the inquest hearing, Mr Winneke indicated he did in fact wish to pursue
several aspects of anaesthetist Dr Hales” management of Louis post intubation. Dr Halley
indicated that if I permitted that area of examination, he would not formally oppose Mr
Winneke broaching that issue, but may wish to review that position and seek to counter any

criticism of Dr Hales’ performance.

Mr Winneke went on to submit that aspects of Dr Hales’ management of Louis post
intubation were “unsatisfactory,” in that a core temperature monitor was not utilised.

However, in the initial outline of his submissions on this issue Mr Winneke conceded:

“Your Honour is not in a position, on the evidence available, to conclude that there
was unreasonable delay in the diagnosis and management of the malignant

hyperthermia. ’°

Dr Halley, in his submissions, said:

“We say there is simply no evidence to make amy criticism of the care: post

intubation.” *!

Dr Halley submitted that Mr Winneke quite rightly conceded that Dr Hales found himself in a
difficult situation.

The panel concluded that although Louis’ end tidal carbon dioxide (ETCO2) was adequately
monitored by Dr Hales, Louis’ core temperature could have been more closely monitored

with the use of a temperature probe, which may have resulted in an earlier recognition of

20 Submission Transcript page 11
2l Submission Transcript page 60

29



Louis’ deterioration and recognition of malignant hyperthermia. Professor Woodford,

conveying the panel’s opinion as to the anaesthetic management of Louis by Dr Hales, said:

“The answer was Dr Hales was the anaesthetist in charge of the case and had

according to the notes gone through the possibilities so in the panel’s opinion the

course of action was appropriate.”?

100. In spite of the matters Mr Winneke suggested were “unsatisfactory,” I am satisfied the

medical management of Louis post intubation, including the method and timing of the

administration of Dantrolene, was reasonable and appropriate in the circumstance. The fact is

malignant hyperthermia is an extremely rare/complication following the administration of
standard anaesthetic agents to facilitate intubation. Dr Hales was indeed in an unenviable

situation.

WAS THE ANAPHYLACTIC EPISODE DUE TO BREAKFAST A CAUSAL FACTOR IN
LOUIS’ DEATH?

101.

102.

103.

I turn to what I consider the principal question I am required to resolve - was the
anaphylactic episode resulting from an undetermined allergen in the breakfast provided to

Louis a causal factor in his death?

Having concluded Louis did indeed suffer anaphylaxis due to an undetermined allergen in the

breakfast provided, I turn to what I consider the principal finding I am require to make.

In Chief Commissioner of Police v Hallenstein (1996) 2 VR 1. Hedigan J observed:

“The issues. of causation and contribution have bedevilled philosophers for centuries
and have attracted consideration by superior courts in all jurisdictions and places for

more than a century.”?

I am sure His Honour was right, but irrespective, the issues of causation and contribution have
certainly “bedevilled” me this last month as I penned this finding! The question I have
anguished over is, although the anaphylactic episode that flowed from an allergen contained
in the breakfast provided to Louis resulted in the need to intubate Louis to stabilize him for

transfer to a tertiary hospital, was clearly a causal factor leading to the intubation, does the

intervening event, a novus actus interveniens, the malignant hyperthermia event due to a

reaction to the anaesthetic agent, break the chain of causation between the earlier anaphylactic

22 Transcript page 480
23(1996) 2 VR 1 at page 14
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104.

105.

106.

107.

108.

episode and death, so that the provision of the breakfast containing the allergen cannot be

seen as a causal factor in Louis’ death?

When I consider the matters referred to earlier in paragraph 39 of this finding, I have asked
myself, trying to apply a measure of common sense, is the connection between the initial
breakfast anaphylactic episode and Louis’ subsequent death logical, readily understandable
and proximate; or illogical, strained, artificial? At first blush, looking at the circumstances,

there is, I suggest, a logical attraction in the notion that there is a causal connection.
In submissions, Mr Winneke said:

“...If he’d gone home prior to being given his breakfast, he would have survived. But the
unfortunate circumstance in this case is that he was given a breakfast which contained a
substance that he was highly allergic to, and ultimately that was the significant cause of

his death or the circumstances that led to the malignant hyperthermia.” (my emphasis) 2

Dr Halley submitted:

“That brings me to a point that is an important causation point, Your Honour, and it’s
this that we say in relation to the medical management, Your Honour, can’t make a

finding that the medical management was causally related to the outcome.” %

As I stated earlier in this finding, there is a logical attraction in the notion that the

anaphylactic episode I have found was due to an allergen unintentionally contained in the
breakfast provided to Louis, ultimately irrespective of the efficacy of initial medical
management, led to intubation and thereafter due to the reaction to the anaesthetic used to

facilitate intubation led to malignant hyperthermia and Louis’ death.
In concurrent evidence, Mr Winneke put the following proposition to Professor Woodford:

“In view of the fact that there’s general agreement that anaphylaxis was the material
cause of death, surely it would not be referred to in the report of the pathologist as

being a significant contributing factor or one of the cause of death? %%

I think the proposition put by Mr Winneke is not properly reflected in the transcript. I believe
the proposition put was — as an anaphylactic event occurred surely should it not be referred to
in the autopsy report? Professor Woodford understood what was being put and answered the

question on the latter basis. Professor Woodford responded:

24 Submission Transcript page 56
%5 Submission Transcript page 61
26 Transcript page 494
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“Well, this was specifically raised with the panel. I should say that when Dr Baber
was formulating this report, she didn’t have the benefit of all the information our
panel had, but I specifically put that question to the panel. It might be worth restating
it but the panel’s view was that the cause of death as stated was reasonable. It does
mention food allergy as a contributing factor. My understanding in the circumstances
is that it was the acute respiratory deterioration that was — that prompted the need for

consideration of intubation. "’

Pursuing the issue further, Mr Winneke suggested:

“Well I understand that. Obviously, if the view is taken that without the anaphylaxis —
there’s no doubt as I understand it that anaphylaxis was material contributing to the
conditions which led to intubation. If the view is taken that the intubation leads to
death, surely it would be the case would it not that the anaphylaxis was a relevant and

contributing factor? *?

That proposition led me to put the following question to Professor Woodford:

“Dr Woodford, if I were formulating a cause of death in these proceedings, bearing in
mind your experience as a senior forensic pathologist, would you anticipate that I'd
make some reference as a contributing factor at the very least to an anaphylactic

reaction? %

He replied:

“Yes Your Honour.””’

109. I concluded Mr Winneke’s examination on this issue was likely founded upon a view that the
cause of death as formulated by Dr Baber in her autopsy report did not adequately reflect the
position that the sequence of events, through to death resulted initially from an anaphylactic
reaction to the breakfast provided to Louis. The conclusions reached by Dr Baber in
formulating a cause of death were no doubt influenced by the fact that the analyses®! of the
soy milk provided by the hospital and the stomach and small bowel material did not

demonstrate milk allergen contamination or cow’s milk protein.

110. What Professor Woodford said in response to Mr Winneke’s proposition — is when Dr Baber

formulated the cause of death in her report, she did not have the benefit of all the subsequent

27 Transcript page 494 - 495
28 Transcript page 495

2 Transcript page 496

3 Transcript page 496

31 National Measurement Institute — Reports nos RN1098258 and 10982584
32



111.

112.

113.

114.

115.

116.

information the panel had access to. That was so, further significant information came to light
during the course of my investigation which ultimately led me to the view Louis did suffer an

anaphylactic event.

While this is one of the saddest cases I have dealt with over the decades, and I cannot start to
imagine the grief the death of Louis visited upon Ms Catan and Mr Tafe, I must endeavour to
be completely dispassionate and objective in' assessing the performance of those who treated

Louis on the morning of 23 October 2015.

I accept that the principles relating to causation in the context of civil proceedings for
negligence are applicable to considerations concerned with causal factors in a death under

coronial investigation, (Hedigan J. in Chief Commissioner of Police v _Hallenstein). The

evidence, from several quarters, suggests that the prospect of such a reaction occurring
leading to malignant hyperthermia is approximately 1 in 250,000 to 300,000 cases; an

extraordinarily rare occurrence and one that could not be reasonably anticipated.

In evidence, Dr Bowden maintained that it was his absolute expectation that once Louis was

intubated and stable he would have been transferred to ICU, monitored for 24-48 hours and

discharged.
In his expert report (at paragraph 35 (d)) Professor Zeigler said:

“It can be confidently concluded that had malignant hyperthermia not occurred Louis

would not have died on 23/10/2015.”
One of the questions I formulated for the panel’s consideration was:
“Had Louis not been intubated, is it more likely than not he would have survived?”

For reasons primarily related to the issue of causation, I considered this an important issue.

Professor Woodford advised that the conclave preferred another form of words, namely:

“Had Louis not required intubation is it more likely than not he would have

survived?”

I was more than happy with that alternative phraseology. The panel concluded, unanimously

that had Louis not required intubation he would have survived.

Consequently, the evidence establishes to my satisfaction that save for the intervening event,
the reaction to the anaesthetic agent resulting in malignant hyperthermia, Louis would have

survived and been discharged home well; therein lies the cruellest irony.
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117.

118.

The incontrovertible fact in this matter is that the prospect of Louis suffering malignant
hyperthermia due to a reaction to the anaesthetic agents used to facilitate intubation could not

have been predicted and broke the chain of causation.

Ironically, the weight of evidence, as stated earlier, led me to the view that the medical

management of Louis’ anaphylactic episode was, even if not optimal, reasonable and
appropriate in the circumstances, so that adopting what 1 refer to as the “Callaway

dichotomy” the medical management could not have been seen as a causal or contributing

factor in any event.

FINDING/CONCLUSION

119.

I conclude Louis Oliver Tate died at Frankston Hospital on the 23 October 2015 due to:

I (a) Malignant hyperthermia due to a reaction to an anaesthetic agent
administered to facilitate intubation.

Contributing factors:
Anaphylaxis resulting from an undetermined allergen in breakfast provided to
Louis which necessitated intubation.

COMMENTS

120.

121.

122.

123.

124.

Pursuant to section 67 (3) of the Act I make the following comments:

At the first Mention/Directions Hearing, through Clayton Utz solicitors, Allergy and
Anaphylaxis Australia (A&AA) sought input into my investigation. I declined to accept
A&AA as a formal “interested party” within the meaning of the Act, but indicated that in due
course I may well invite input in relation to issues relating generally to relevant guidelines,
their adequacy, and uniformity, and whether Peninsula Health’s current Anaphylaxis

Management Guidelines are appropriate.

A&AA accepted my invitation and provided a submission which I have found most helpful. I
propose to annex the entire submission to this finding, but will also make reference to some

matters contained therein.

Significantly, A&AA advise that there is no uniform standard for the management of
anaphylaxis in Australia. At paragraph 9 of the submission is a table of “ten key guidelines for
the treatment and management of anaphylaxis,” together with a commentary regarding their
adequacy. I found that part of the submission interesting. I do not know whether other entities

involved in this area hold precisely the same views.

As well as annexing the entire submission to my finding, [ include in the body of the finding

several excerpts from the conclusions to the submission. It is submitted:
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125.

126.

127.

“There are no Government (National, State or Territory) acute anaphylaxis
management guidelines/protocols for the recognition and emergency treatment of
anaphylaxis that have all the information contained in the ASCIA Acute Management

of Anaphylaxis Guidelines.

A&AA submits that current national and state guidelines, including those listed above,
are inadequate because they fail to provide a uniform, national clinical care standard

5

for recognition and emergency treatment of anaphylaxis.’

A&AA submit that a mandatory Clinical Care Standard for Anaphylaxis be developed for
application Australia wide. It is suggested that the Australian Commission for Quality and
Safety in Healthcare are presently looking at the issue, apparently with a view to developing,
and presumably promulgating, an appropriate/comprehensive standard. A&AA have
suggested that this proposal be accelerated. Although I appreciate there are no doubt complex
issues that require thorough consideration with the alarming increase in the numbers of

children diagnosed with allergies I merely support their plea.

In the final paragraph of the A&AA submission, it was suggested that where a patient with an
ASCIA Action Plan for anaphylaxis and in possession of an EpiPen presents at a paediatric
unit or other high risk unit within a healthcare facility including a hospital, that EpiPen should
be available for use. During the running of this matter it became apparent that presently there
is a prohibition upon a patients personal EpiPen being utilised, at least by registered nurses. I

went back to A&AA and invited the organization to expand on the issue.

In further correspondence under the hand of the A&AA CEO, Ms Maria Said, it was indicated
the organization strongly supported health professionals being permitted to utilise an
individual patients EpiPen. The position advocated by A&AA is encapsulated in the following

excerpt from Ms Said’s letter; she wrote:

“In conclusion, adrenaline autoinjectors are designed for prompt administration of a
lifesaving medication, by lay people in the community setting. If available, there
should be no barrier to health professionals administering an adrenaline autoinjector
in any setting. It is nonsensical that an off duty health professional can administer an
adrenaline autoinjector that is stored in a first aid kit at a football stadium, for
example, but cannot administer an individual’s own device when working in a hospital

setting if it is not specifically ordered by a doctor.”

Having given the matter thought, although it has a logical attraction, I decided to merely annex
Ms Said’s supplementary correspondence to my finding as a comment, rather than a formal

recommendation. I decided to proceed on that basis primarily because I am not fully cognizant
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of the precise rationale behind the prohibition, nor did I flag it to the parties during the inquest,

and in any event considerations such as this are better determined in a specialist forum.
DISTRIBUTION OF FINDING
128. I direct that a copy of this finding be provided to the following:
e Maurice Blackburn, Solicitors for Ms Catan and Mr Tate;
e Minter Ellison, Solicitors for Peninsula Health;
e Safer Care Victoria;
e Australasian Society of Clinical Immunology and Allergy (ASCIA);
e Department of Health and Human Services;
e Allergy and Anaphylaxis Australia (A&AA); and

e Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Healthcare.

Signature:

PHILLIP BYRNE
CORQNE
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COR 2015 5382,

IN THE CORONER’S COURT OF VICTORIA
AT MELBOURNE

INQUEST INTO THE DEATH OF LOUIS TATE

Submissions filed by Allergy & Anaphylaxis Australia on 12 December 2017

Allergy & Anaphylaxis Australia (A&AA)

1.

A&AA is a national charity supporting Australians with allergic disease. The organisation is recognised
as a Peak Health Advisory Body and receives funding from the federal government. The A&AA Board
and Medical Advisory Board include experts in the management of allergic disease, food policy and
legislation, national policy and government, finance and consumers who live with allergic disease.
More detailed information on Board and Medical Advisory Board members can be found at

www.allergyfacts.org.au,

In 2014, the Australasian Society of Clinical Immunology and Allergy (ASCIA) and A& AA partnered
to progress the National Allergy Strategy (NAS)." An Allergy Su'mmit was held in 2014 and the NAS
was launched in August 2015. This 53 page document contains 5 goals - namely, Standards of Care;
Access to Care; Information, Education & Training; Research; and Prioritised Chronic Disease - and
continues to drive best practice. The unique relationship between a medical and consumer peak body

continues to drive the NAS.

Role in corenial inquest

3

His Honour Coroner Byrne has requested submissions from A&AA regarding the adequacy of:

(a) current guidelines for the treatment of anaphylaxis at a state level;

(b) current guidelines for the treatment of anaphylaxis at a national level;

«©) current Peninsula Health Anaphylaxis Management Guidelines (Peninsula Health
Guidelines).

A&AA's submissions are based on its knowledge and experience of severe allergy treatment, published
data and ongoing management by health professionals. The submissions are not specific to the

circumstances of Louis Tate,

1 www.nationalallersystrateg v.org. au/download




COR 2015 5382

Executive summary

5.

Currently there is no uniform standard for the management 6f anaphylaxis in Australia. Rather, there
are hundreds of guidelines/protocols that have been published by various stakeholders including various
healthcare providers at evéry level, national and state based medical colleges, individual medical
practices (primary, secondary and tertiary), immunisation clinics and the like. With one qualification
regarding adrenaline (epinephrine) auto-injectors (i.e. EpiPen®), A&AA submits that the ASCIA
Guidelines which include the ASCIA Action Plan, are adequate. The other guidelines incorporate
some, but not all, information required to recognise and manage anaphylaxis using available best

practice national ASCIA Guidelines.

Due to the vast number of guidelines available, A&AA has focussed on ten key guidelines in these
Submissions, These guidelines are detailed below and, along with the other guidelines that have not
been specifically outlined in these Submissions, are mostly inadequate because they do not list/detail

important evidence-based aspects of the ASCIA Guidelines,

A&AA submits that consistent guidelines for the recognition and emergency treatment of anaphylaxis
will improve clinical outcomes for both patients and health professionals, The increase in food, insect
and medication allergies in both adults and children means healthcare providers need to be educated on
recognition and emergency treatment of anaphylaxis so they are preparéd when they are faced with an
allergic reaction. The increased prevalence of anaphylaxis means that all healthcare professionals, not
just those working in areas such as food challenge clinics, immunisation clinics, operating theatres,
emergency departments and radiology units, need to be aware of the risk of anaphylaxis. Regular
anaphylaxis training must be a component of every health professional’s regular professional

development (in the same way as cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) and fire safety are currently).

One set of evidence-based guidelines that includes all required information should be introduced and

mandated. This will assist healthcare professionals and patients in obtaining the best possible outcomes.

2 Clinics where a food is given to an individual to see if they are at risk of anaphylaxis or have in fact outgrown their allergy.
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COR 2015 5382

Conclusion

10.

12.

13.

14,

15.

There are no Government (national, state or territory) acute anaphylaxis management
guidelines/protocols for the recognition and emergency treatment of anaphylaxis that have all the

information contained in the ASCIA Acute Management of Anaphylaxis Guidelines.

A& AA submits that current national and state guidelines, including those listed above, are inadequate
because they fail to provide a uniform, national clinical care standard for recognition and emergency

treatment of anaphylaxis.

One of the 5 main goals detailed in the National Allergy Strategy (see paragraph 2 above) is to develop
standards of care to improve the health and quality of life of people with allergic diseases. One of the
stated priority objectives relating to this issue is to develop and implement a national standardised
framework for the prevention, diagnosis and managemerit of allergic diseases to improve consistency
and accuracy of information. This includes facilitating communication across all Australian regions at
every level to adopt standardised guidelines for acute management of anaphylaxis in all hospital

emergency departments,'®

A&AA submits that a mandatory Clinical Care Standard for Anaphylaxis (CCSA) is required to reduce
the variation in emergency care at primary, secondary and tertiary heaith level and give people the best
chance of recovery. A&AA, through the NAS, has met with the Australian Commission for Quality and
Safety in Healthcare (the Commission) and discussed the critical need for 2 CCSA. NAS co-chairs,
Associate Professor Richard Loh and A& AA's CEO Maria Said, are confident the development of a
CCSA will be part of the Commission’s work plan for 2019-2020 but urge that it be actioned sooner.

A&AA also submits that all guidelines/policies/protocols need to include information on:

(a) health professional training and clear consistent process for the storage and administration

of an adrenaline avto-injector and its use in the healthcare setting when available; and

(b) the importance of promptly administering adrenaline according to the ASCIA
Guidelines/ASCIA Action Plan (regarding, in particular, when the patient with a history of
anaphylaxis presents with symptoms that are consistent with sudden onset of breathing

difficulty often mistaken as asthma).

Finally, A&AA submits that adrenaline auto-injectors (EpiPen®) stored with an ASCIA Action Plan
should be available for use in paediatric units, and other high risk units, of healthcare facilities including

hospitals.

Signed by Maria Said
Chief Executive Officer, Allergy & Anaphylaxis Australia
12 December 2017

'8 https://www.nationalallereystrategy.org.aufimages/doc/NAS Document Firal WEB pdf (page 12)
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Allergy&Anaphylaxis
Australia

15™ January 2018

Coroners Court of Victoria
Attention: Coroner Byrne
65 Kavanagh St
Southbank VIC 3006

Dear Coroner Byrne

Investigation into the death of Louis Tate

Court ref: COR 2015 5382

Thank you for your correspondence dated 20 December 2017 requesting Allergy & Anaphylaxis
Australia’s (A&AA) opinion on health professional administration of an adrenaline autoinjector (EpiPen®)
belonging to a patient in a healthcare setting.

A&AA strongly supports health professionals administering an individual’s adrenaline autoinjector in any
healthcare setting including but not limited to paediatric units, general medical and surgical units,
rehabilitation units and hospital cafeterias.

An individual with an adrenaline autoinjector must also have an ASCIA Action Plan for Anaphylaxis. This is a
Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme prescription requirement.

The individual’s ASCIA Action Plan (which is completed and signed by the individual’s general practitioner
or allergy specialist) is a medical document that is to be followed if someone shows signs of an allergic
reaction no matter what setting they are in. When a patient with a severe allergy brings their adrenaline
autoinjector to a hospital, medical staff looking after the patient should know how to, and have permission
to, administer it using the patients ASCIA Action Plan to guide them. Whilst we encourage the adrenaline
autoinjector to be prescribed on the patients PRN medication chart, if it is not, this should not be an
obstacle to administration as the patient has the ASCIA Action Plan which will have been completed and
signed by a doctor.

Allergy & Anaphylaxis Australia — Your trusted charity for allergy support
FREE Membership now available - visit allergyfacts.org.au and click on “Join Us”

PO Box 7726, Baulkham Hills NSW 2153 www.allergyfacts.org.au
Ph: 02 9680 2999 www.foodallergvaware.com.au
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Individuals are advised to always have their medical kit containing their ASCIA Action Plan, their adrenaline
autoinjector and other medications (such as antihistamines and asthma reliever puffer) with them and
easily accessible (not in a locked cupboard). When an individual displays signs and symptoms of an allergic
reaction, the individual or their carer/friend should review the ASCIA Action Plan to guide them on next

steps.

A&AA's advice to patients is clearly communicated on our Hospital Stay Help Sheet and our Hospital
Checklist which can be found at https://allergyfacts.org.au/resources/help-sheets.

We take this opportunity to inform Your Honour, that some healthcare facilities take the individual’s
adrenaline autoinjector and place it in a locked cupboard or an unknown location during the individual's
stay in hospital. This is done for the purported safety of other patients. A&AA submits that children and
adults should have their adrenaline autoinjector easily accessible at all times and it should not be taken
from them when in a hospital setting. For an individual with food allergy, the healthcare environment is
high risk and is no different to a restaurant. There may even be a greater risk in hospital settings because
often, there is no direct communication with whoever prepared the meals provided. Children have had
their adrenaline autoinjector and ASCIA Action Plan with them at school, either on their person or in their
classroom/other central location since the early 1990s. Therefore, the concern around safety of
surrounding persons should not be an obstacle to individuals having their emergency medication with
them at all times in healthcare settings.

In conclusion, adrenaline autoinjectors are designed for prompt administration of a lifesaving medication,
by lay people in the community setting. If available, there should be no barrier to health professionals
administering an adrenaline autoinjector in any setting. It is nonsensical that an off duty health
professional can administer an adrenaline autoinjector that is stored in a first aid kit at a football stadium,
for example, but cannot administer an individual’s own device when working in a hospital setting if it is not
specifically ordered by a doctor.

If you have any further queries or need further clarification please do not hesitate to contact me via email

(msaid@allergyfacts.org.au), phone (0409 609 831) or post.

Yours sincerely,

Maria Said

CEO, Allergy & Anaphylaxis Australia
E: msaid@allergyfacts.org.au

M: 0409 609 831
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